THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
THE HONORABLE JOCELYN NEWMAN
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-001923
CIVIL ACTION NO. 2020-CP-40-05532

RECEIVED

Aug 28 2026

SC Court of Appeals

Marion Katrell Campbell, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated,

RESPONDENT,

versus

South Carolina Department of Corrections,

APPELLANT,

AND

Wardell Williams, Harry Simmons, Jr., and Isiah Rollins,

RESPONDENTS,

versus

South Carolina Department of Corrections,

APPELLANT,

AND

Larry Hampton, Christopher McDowell, David Payton, Jr., and Michael Smoak,

RESPONDENTS,

versus

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. SCDC is immune from liability on Plaintiffs' false imprisonment claim pursuant to the exceptions to the waiver of immunity under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act.
 - A. Plaintiffs' claim for false imprisonment arises out of SCDC's failure to enforce relevant provisions of the Omnibus Act to release Plaintiffs' from incarceration at an earlier time; therefore, SCDC is immune from liability pursuant to the exception to the waiver of immunity providing that a governmental entity is not liable for loss resulting from the adoption, enforcement, or compliance with any law or failure to adopt or enforce any law.
 - B. SCDC's interpretation of the Omnibus Act and its application of that interpretation to inmate release dates involves the exercise of discretion or judgment for which a governmental entity is immune from liability.
 - C. SCDC's interpretation of the Omnibus Act and its application of that interpretation to inmate release dates invokes immunity for the decision to or implementation of release of an inmate.
 - D. The gross negligence standard of the custodial immunity exception to the waiver of immunity should not be read into the subsections under which SCDC is immune from liability because SCDC neither pled immunity under this subsection nor is it applicable; further, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit has already made findings in this case which establish that SCDC was not grossly negligent.
- II. SCDC did not unlawfully restrain any member of the plaintiff class as required for a false imprisonment claim.
 - A. The Omnibus Act did not apply retroactively to those class members sentenced before the effective date of the Act; therefore, because these class members were not entitled to any early release under the Act, SCDC did not unlawfully restrain them.
 - B. Inmates sentenced after the effective date of the Omnibus Act were validly restrained by SCDC until this Court determined that the relevant provisions of the Act should be construed to apply credits for early release.
- III. The alleged injuries of each class member stemmed from the same, singular act by SCDC in interpreting the Omnibus Act and applying its interpretation to inmate release dates; therefore, the complaint alleges only one occurrence for which the total sum potentially recoverable under the Tort Claims Act is six hundred thousand dollars regardless of the number of claims or actions involved.

- IV. Because Plaintiffs' false imprisonment and negligence/gross negligence claims are premised upon the same factual allegations, the immunities and monetary limitations of liability under the Tort Claims Act also apply to Plaintiffs' negligence/gross negligence claim to limit liability.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 17, 2016, Respondent Marion Campbell filed a class action complaint in the Court of Common Pleas for Charleston County against Appellant South Carolina Department of Corrections ("SCDC") and Bryan Stirling, the Director of SCDC at the time. [R.pp. 81-95; Compl.] Campbell alleged that SCDC falsely imprisoned him and the class who, as a result of the Omnibus Crime Reduction and Sentencing Reform Act of 2010 (the "Omnibus Act"), should have been released sooner than the inmate release dates calculated by SCDC. [R.p. 85; Id. at p. 1.] Among the claims brought by Campbell against SCDC and Stirling were false imprisonment and negligence/gross negligence. [R.pp. 90-93; Id. at ¶¶ 28-47.] Campbell sought actual, consequential, and punitive damages on behalf of himself and the class. [R.p. 94; Id. at p. 10.]

The action was removed to the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina by SCDC and Stirling on September 29, 2016. [R.pp. 96-99; Notice of Removal.] Campbell then filed an amended class action complaint on May 16, 2017 which added deliberate indifference claims pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against SCDC General Counsel David Tatarsky and Deputy General Counsel Chris Florian arising out of the implementation of the Omnibus Act. [R.pp. 101; 105-106; 113-114; Am. Compl., ¶¶ 4-5, 32-37, 78-82.] In the Amended Complaint, Campbell once again asserted claims for false imprisonment and negligence/gross negligence against SCDC. [R.pp. 110-113; Id. at ¶¶ 58-77.] Campbell also brought certain deliberate indifference claims against Stirling. [R.p.

114; Id. at ¶¶ 83-86.] Campbell continued to seek on behalf of himself and the class actual, consequential, and punitive damages. [R.pp. 114-115; Id. at pp. 15-16.]

SCDC and Stirling answered the amended complaint on May 25, 2017, denying its material allegations. [R.pp. 117-125; Answer.] SCDC further asserted as an affirmative defense the immunities of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, including §§ 15-78-60(1)(2)(3)(4)(5)(21), and (23). [R.p. 123; Id. at ¶ 37.]

All parties moved for summary judgment in the District Court case. On October 1, 2018, the United States Magistrate Judge recommended the grant of summary judgment in favor of SCDC, Stirling, Tatarsky, and Florian. The Magistrate Judge also recommended the denial of Campbell's motion for summary judgment. The Magistrate Judge recommended that SCDC was immune from liability under S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-78-60(4) (providing immunity for losses resulting from the "adoption, enforcement, or compliance with any law or failure to adopt or enforce any law"); S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-78-60(5) (providing immunity for losses resulting from "the exercise of discretion or judgment by the governmental entity or employee or the performance or failure to perform any act or service which is in the discretion or judgment of the governmental entity or employee"); and S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-78-60(21) (providing immunity for losses resulting from "the decision to or implementation of release . . . of any persons in the custody of any governmental entity, including [an] inmate"). [R.pp. 314-339; Report and Recommendation (Campbell v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., No. 6:16-CV-3265-MGL-KFM, 2018 WL 7820956 (D.S.C. Oct. 1, 2018)).]

The District Court rejected the Report and Recommendation on March 21, 2019 and denied the motion for summary judgment of SCDC attorneys Tatarsky and Florian.

[R.pp. 528-539; District Court Order (Campbell v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., No. CV 6:16-3265-MGL-KFM, 2019 WL 1297005 (D.S.C. Mar. 21, 2019)).] By a separate text order issued the same day, the District Court granted Defendant Stirling's motion for summary judgment and dismissed without prejudice both Campbell's and SCDC's motions for summary judgment with leave to refile as to the state claims. [R.pp. 43-44; see April 15, 2025 Order, pp. 2-3.] Campbell did not reassert any claims against Stirling, and he is no longer a defendant in this case.

On August 28, 2020, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit issued an amended opinion reversing the District Court's denial of the motion for summary judgment of SCDC attorneys Tatarsky and Florian. [R.pp. 1-10: Fourth Circuit Opinion (Campbell v. Florian, 972 F.3d 385 (4th Cir. 2020), as amended (Aug. 28, 2020)).] The Fourth Circuit determined Tatarsky and Florian did not act with deliberate indifference and were entitled to qualified immunity. Campbell's claims against Tatarsky and Florian were dismissed with prejudice. [R.pp. 1-10; Id.]

Following the Fourth Circuit's dismissal of Tatarsky and Florian, the District Court remanded Campbell's remaining state law claims for false imprisonment and negligence/gross negligence against SCDC to the Court of Common Pleas for Charleston County. [R.pp. 11-12; Text Order entered September 30, 2020.] Venue was subsequently transferred by consent to the Richland County Court of Common Pleas, and several additional actions stating similar claims were consolidated. [R.p. 44; April 15, 2025 Order, p. 3.] The Trial Court conditionally certified the consolidated class as a class action on November 19, 2021. [R.pp. 22-41; Certification Order.]

On August 9, 2023, SCDC filed a motion and memorandum for summary judgment on the false imprisonment and negligence/gross negligence claims of the plaintiff class arguing, in part, that no plaintiff was at any time unlawfully restrained by SCDC and that SCDC was entitled to immunity under the Tort Claims Act, including §§ 15-78-60(4), (5), and (21) for the failure to enforce any law, the exercise of discretion, and the decision to or implementation of release of an inmate. [R.pp. 268-344; Mtn. for Summary Judgment, Memo., and Exs.]

Plaintiffs also filed a motion for summary judgment on their false imprisonment claim. [R.pp. 345-474; Plaintiffs' Mtn. for Summary Judgment, Memo., and Exs.] Plaintiffs further requested the Trial Court to order as a matter of law that each plaintiff within the class could claim a separate occurrence under the Tort Claims Act. [R.p. 346; Plaintiffs' Mtn. for Summary Judgment, p. 2.] The parties thereafter submitted opposition and supplemental memorandums on the cross-motions for summary judgment. [R.pp. 487-608; 475-486; 615-619; 620-636; Plaintiffs' Opp. Memo. and Exs; SCDC Opp. Memo.; SCDC Supp. Memo.; Plaintiffs' Response to Supp. Memo.]

A hearing on the cross-motions for summary judgment was held before The Honorable Jocelyn Newman on February 12, 2025. [R.pp. 716-776; Hearing Tr.] On April 15, 2025, the Trial Court granted summary judgment in favor of Plaintiffs on the false imprisonment claim and denied SCDC's motion for summary judgment on the negligence/gross negligence claim. The Trial Court further ruled that each individual class members' false imprisonment arising out of SCDC's interpretation of the Omnibus Act constituted a separate compensable occurrence under the Tort Claims Act. [R.pp. 42-77; April 15, 2025 Order.]

Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, SCDC timely moved for reconsideration of the Trial Court's Order. [R.pp. 637-672; Mtn. and Am. Mtn. for Reconsideration.] The Trial Court denied the motion for reconsideration on August 25, 2025. [R.pp. 78-80; Form 4 Order.]

SCDC served and filed its Notice of Appeal to this Court on or about September 19, 2025.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 22, 2010, Marion Campbell was indicted in Colleton County, South Carolina for "manufacturing or distribution of cocaine base" (third offense). [R.pp. 101-102; Am. Compl., ¶ 8.] On December 2, 2011, Campbell pled guilty to distribution of crack cocaine (second offense) in violation of S.C. CODE ANN. § 44-53-375(B)(2). [R.p. 102; Id. at ¶ 10.] A circuit court judge sentenced Campbell to twenty-five years imprisonment, suspended to service of seven years with five years probation. [R.p. 102; Id. at ¶ 11.]

Under South Carolina law, inmates may be entitled to apply work credits and good-time credits to the balance of their sentence in order to be eligible for earlier release than the imposed sentence. For every two days that an inmate works on a "productive duty assignment," the inmate may receive a day's credit. S.C. CODE ANN. § 24-13-230(A). Inmates who "faithfully observed all the rules of the institution where [they are] confined and [who have] not been subjected to punishment for misbehavior" are granted good-time credits "at the rate of twenty days for each month served." S.C. CODE ANN. § 24-13-210(A).

The above-mentioned credits do not apply to all South Carolina inmates without restriction. The Legislature has classified certain offenses as "no parole offenses." S.C.

CODE ANN. § 24-13-100. “No parole offenses” included any “class A, B, or C felony.” Id. Inmates convicted of these offenses must serve at least eighty-five percent of their sentence as imposed before they are eligible for early release, discharge, or community supervision. See S.C. CODE ANN. § 24-13-150(A) (“Notwithstanding any other provision of law . . . an inmate convicted of a “no parole offense” as defined in Section 24-13-100 and sentenced to the custody of the Department of Corrections . . . is not eligible for early release, discharge, or community supervision . . . until the inmate has served at least eighty-five percent of the actual term of imprisonment imposed.”).

As a result, work and good-conduct credits do not kick in for “no parole offenders” until they have served eighty-five percent of their sentence. This is known as the “eighty-five percent rule.” In addition, no parole offenders earn fewer work and good-conduct credits than other offenders. See S.C. CODE ANN. §§ 24-13-210(B), -230(B).

The offense for which Campbell pled guilty, S.C. CODE ANN. § 44-53-375(B)(2), is designated as a Class A felony under S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-1-90(A). At the time Campbell was indicted, his offense, a Class A felony, was therefore classified as a “no parole offense” under S.C. CODE ANN. § 24-13-100 subject to the eighty-five percent rule.

Following Campbell’s indictment but prior to his sentencing, the Legislature enacted the Omnibus Crime Reduction and Sentencing Reform Act of 2010 with an effective date of June 2, 2010 (the “Omnibus Act”). Sections 37 and 38 of the Omnibus Act appended the following paragraph to § 44-53-375(B) of the South Carolina Code:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a person convicted and sentenced pursuant to this subsection for a first offense or second offense may have the sentence suspended and probation granted, and is eligible for parole, supervised furlough, community supervision, work release, work credits, education credits, and good conduct credits.

See 2010 South Carolina Laws Act 273, §§ 37, 38 (S.B. 1154).

While the Omnibus Act amended § 44-53-375(B) to provide that a second offense [of which Campbell was sentenced] under such subsection may be eligible for parole, the Omnibus Act did not amend § 24-13-100 which controlled “no parole” classifications and designated a Class A felony as a “no parole offense.” Nor did the Omnibus Act amend § 16-1-90(A) which designated an offense under § 44-53-375(B)(2) as a Class A felony. Finally, the Omnibus Act also did not amend § 24-13-150(A) which enumerated the consequences of the no parole offense designation and mandated that inmates must serve at least eighty-five percent of their sentence as imposed before they are eligible for early release, discharge, or community supervision.

As the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit recognized, this created “an arguable contradiction in South Carolina law” because while the Omnibus Act suggested that Campbell was “eligible for parole, . . . work credits, education credits, and good conduct credits,” § 44-53-375(B) still fell within § 24-13-100’s classification of a “no parole offense” such that the eighty-five percent rule would still preclude Campbell from gaining early release based on those credits. [R.pp. 2-3; Campbell v. Florian, 972 F.3d 385, 389 (4th Cir. 2020).] Further, as the Fourth Circuit observed, “[c]ompounding the confusion, both § 24-13-150(A) and § 44-53-375(B) claimed to apply ‘notwithstanding any other provision of law.’” [R.p. 3; Id. at 390.]

The Fourth Circuit found SCDC “needed to sort through the new law in all its contradictions” “[t]o fulfill its responsibilities – including determining parole eligibility and calculating release dates based on earned credits.” [R.p. 3; Id.] The task fell to Chris Florian, SCDC’s Deputy General Counsel. [R.p. 562; Florian Dep., p. 11, ll. 2-23.]

Florian's particular expertise at SCDC was in sentencing law. [R.p. 563; Id. at p. 16, ll. 19-21.]

Within a few days of the Omnibus Act being enacted, Florian was assigned by General Counsel David Tatarsky to review the Act, interpret its provisions, and provide legal guidance to the agency. It was clear to Florian that the Omnibus Act was going to have a significant effect on the agency. [R.pp. 565; 566; 543; 547; Id. at pp. 21, ll. 3-13; 27, ll. 16-22; Tatarsky Dep., pp. 11, l. 23 – 12, l. 1; 26, ll. 10-13.] Florian began studying the Omnibus Act, outlining various sections in order to pull out those that would have a direct impact on the agency. [R.p. 567; Florian Dep., p. 29, ll. 3-17.] He noted that certain portions of the Omnibus Act were unclear upon his reading of it, and he began researching the issues presented, including reviewing relevant sections of the South Carolina Code, court decisions, and any other legal authorities that might speak to the presented legal issues so he could interpret and apply the Omnibus Act. While performing this work, Florian was aware of the legal concepts of statutory construction and legislative intent, and he researched existing South Carolina case law in an attempt to apply these principles to his analysis. [R.pp. 567; 568; 592-593; Id. at pp. 31, l. 22 – 32, l. 24; 34, l. 16 – 35, l. 14; 132, l. 7 – 133, l. 16.]

Florian interpreted the Omnibus Act to be inconsistent in a number of respects, including regarding its use of terms and its fundamental intent. Florian testified that “[a]t times the law seemed to be intending to reduce inmate sentences, but other places you would see it actually increasing penalties.” [R.pp. 568-569; Id. at pp. 36, l. 23 – 37, l. 6.] To resolve the noted inconsistencies, Florian looked “at how those terms were used elsewhere in the South Carolina [C]ode and [looked] to try and synthesize the act with

existing law and to basically apply the law as – as a court looking at the law would interpret it.” [R.p. 569; Id. at p. 37, ll. 7-16.]

Florian kept General Counsel Tatarsky informed of his progress in researching the provisions of the Omnibus Act. [R.pp. 567; Id. at pp. 30, l. 17 – 31, l. 20.] Florian did not solicit advice on interpretation of the Omnibus Act from other attorneys or law firms in forming his opinions, testifying that there would have been little use in such an exercise as solicitors, assistant solicitors, and circuit judges were in the habit of calling him for advice in interpreting sentencing provisions. [R.pp. 568; 579; 591; Id. at pp. 35, l. 15 – 36, l. 5; 80, ll. 12 – 22; 128, ll. 4-19.]

Based upon his research and the rules of statutory construction, Florian drafted a memorandum describing how he believed the Omnibus Act should be interpreted. [R.pp. 569; Id. at pp. 37, ll. 17 – 24.] In his memorandum, Florian proceeded through the Omnibus Act section by section, and he summarized the changes that each section made. As for Sections 37 and 38 (amending S.C. CODE ANN. § 44-53-375(B)), Florian concluded that an inmate convicted under § 44-53-375(B) was now eligible for parole. But if the inmate was not granted parole, the no parole offense restrictions—including the eighty-five-percent rule—would then apply:

Section 37 makes several changes to the structure of certain drug offenses. Affected offenses are now eligible for parole, supervised furlough, community supervision, and work release, despite the fact the [sic] some of the offenses affected are Class A, B, and C felonies. As with many other sections of the Act, because nothing in the language of this section indicates the change applies retroactively, this change should only be applied to offenses occurring after June 2, 2010.

As to the affected Class A, B, and C felonies, nothing in the text of these sections directly addresses the issue of whether inmates convicted of these offenses are still required to serve 85% of their sentences before early release, discharge, or community supervision. Consequently, reading

Sections 37 and 38 in conjunction with S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-150(A), [the “no parole offenses” section,] inmates convicted of these offenses are apparently still required to serve 85% of their sentences before release, unless they are granted parole. . . .

[R.p. 294; Florian Memorandum dated June 22, 2010, p. 3.]

This interpretation, Florian believed, resolved the Omnibus Act’s contradictions. By statutorily designating § 44-53-375(B) a “no parole offense,” yet otherwise permitting “eligibility” for parole, the Omnibus Act gave SCDC the discretion to parole certain inmates. Notwithstanding this, the Act did not remove the otherwise applicable general restrictions placed on a “no parole offense.” [R.pp. 576; 576-577; 577-578; Florian Dep., pp. 66, l. 12 – 67, l. 4; 67, ll. 14-24; 68, l. 25 – 69, l. 15; 72, l. 25 – 74, l. 17.]

SCDC’s General Counsel Tatarsky read the Florian memorandum, familiarized himself with its contents, and approved it. [R.pp. 551; 552; Tatarsky Dep., pp. 44, ll. 6-8; 46, ll. 21-24.] The Florian memorandum was passed around the department and used to evaluate inmates’ eligibility for parole, credits, and release. [R.pp. 577; 578; Florian Dep., pp. 70, l. 22 – 72, l. 24; 75, ll. 15-21.] Based upon the Florian memorandum and its analysis of the Omnibus Act, the technical staff of SCDC’s Resource and Information Management Division programmed and made the coding changes necessary to the computer system which would automatically calculate and recalculate max-out dates for inmates. [R.pp. 565; 566; 546; Florian Dep., pp. 21, l. 25 – 22, l. 11; 25, ll. 4-22; Tatarsky Dep., pp. 21, l. 18 – 22, l. 6.]

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