RECEIVED

Jun 12 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
THE HONORABLE JOCELYN NEWMAN
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-001923

Marion Katrell Campbell, on behalf of himself and all other similar situated,

RESPONDENT,

versus

South Carolina Department of Corrections,

APPELLANT,

AND

Wardell Williams, Harry Simmons, Jr., and Isiah Rollins,

RESPONDENTS,

versus

South Carolina Department of Corrections,

APPELLANT,

AND

Larry Hampton, Christopher McDowell, David Payton, Jr., and Michael Smoak,

RESPONDENTS,

versus

South Carolina Department of Corrections,

APPELLANT,

AND

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

As early as 2014, SCDC was told by the ALC that maintaining the eighty-five percent rule for parolable offenses under the Omnibus Act “would be to hold that the General Assembly amended the statute for no purpose whatsoever.” [R.pp. ___, fn 1: Ex. A to Plt. Memo. Opp.

⁹ SCDC shows remarkable hubris in characterizing its interpretation of the Omnibus Act as merely “wrong.” The Administrative Law Judge in Fowler concluded that SCDC’s position was “specious.” [R.pp. ___: Ex. A to Plt. Memo. Opp. SCDC Mot. for S.J., p. 3, fn. 1]. This Court found that SCDC’s interpretation of the Omnibus Act was “patently erroneous.” Bolin, 781 S.E.2d at 916.

SCDC Mot. for S.J., p. 4, fn. 1]. That tribunal called SCDC’s interpretation of the Act “unreasonable” and its argument “specious.” [R.pp. ___, fn. 1: Ex. A to Plt. Memo. Opp. SCDC Mot. for S.J., at 3-4, fn. 1].

This Court was then called upon to review SCDC’s interpretation of the Omnibus Act in the Bolin and Fowler cases. As an initial matter, this Court defined its scope of review in Bolin by noting:

While the interpretation of a statute by the agency charged with its administration “will be accorded the most respectful consideration,” an agency's interpretation “affords no basis for the perpetuation of a patently erroneous application of the statute.”

Bolin, 415 S.C. at 280, 781 S.E.2d at 916 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

This Court noted the following language in the Omnibus Act:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a person convicted and sentenced pursuant to this subsection for a first offense or second offense may have the sentence suspended and probation granted, and is eligible for parole, supervised furlough, community supervision, work release, work credits, education credits, and good conduct credits.” 2010 Act No. 273, § 38 (emphases added).

Bolin, 415 S.C. at 282, 781 S.E.2d at 917 (emphasis in original).

From this language this Court concluded that the Legislature intended to repeal the no-parole provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-100 because otherwise “the amendments themselves would be meaningless.” Bolin, 415 S.C. at 283, 781 S.E.2d at 917. This Court further concluded that “it is unreasonable to characterize an offense for which the offender is eligible for parole as a no-parole offense.” Bolin, 415 S.C. at 284, 781 S.E.2d at 918 (emphasis added).

This Court also concluded that SCDC, in interpreting the Omnibus Act, “ignores the purpose of the [Omnibus] Act.” Bolin, 415 S.C. at 285, 781 S.E.2d at 918 (emphasis added). As the trial court concluded “[n]o state agency has the discretion to ignore legislative intent in interpreting a statute. SCDC was required to recalculate the sentences of impacted inmates in

accordance with the Omnibus Act so as to effectuate the early releases and cost savings intended by the Legislature.” [R.pp. ____: Sum. Judg. Order, p. 24].

This Court’s conclusions in Bolin that SCDC’s interpretation of the Omnibus Act was “patently erroneous,” “unreasonable,” and not in accordance with Legislative intent are binding on SCDC and are fatal to its claim of discretionary immunity under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(5).¹⁰ SCDC bears the burden of proof to establish its entitlement to discretionary immunity under this TCA exemption. Proctor v. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control, 368 S.C. 279, 292, 628 S.E.2d 496, 503 (Ct. App. 2006). This Court’s conclusions in Bolin negate the elements of discretionary immunity and the trial court properly so found.

When SCDC was mandated by the Legislature to recalculate parole eligibility and release dates in accordance with the Omnibus Act, it was not “faced with alternatives.” Creating a parolable, no parole category of sentence, which this Court concluded was unreasonable and patently erroneous is not a “competing consideration.” Interpreting the Omnibus Act in such a way that “the amendments themselves would be meaningless”¹¹ is not a “competing consideration.” Ignoring legislative intent is not a “competing consideration.” The paramount factor in the interpretation of a statute by an agency is that legislative intent must prevail:

“The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.” Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000); see also, McClanahan v. Richland Cnty. Council, 350 S.C. 433, 438, 567

¹⁰ Because SCDC is bound by the holdings of this Court in Bolin, it has consistently denigrated the opinion, preferring to elevate dicta in the opinion of the Fourth Circuit that dealt solely with the issue of conscious indifference vis-à-vis individual SCDC employees involved in interpreting the Omnibus Act. SCDC has characterized the Bolin ruling as nothing more than this Court’s “characterization of any opinion contrary to its own as being ‘patently erroneous’ and ‘unreasonable.’” [R.pp. ____; Ex. G to Plt. Memo. Supp. Mot. for S.J., pp. 2, 3]. It has also called this Court’s careful and pointed language “that court’s own descriptions intended to bolster its own decision on the issue of statutory construction.” [R.p. ____: Id., p. 3].

¹¹ Bolin, 415 S.C. at 283, 781 S.E.2d at 917.

S.E.2d 240, 242 (2002) (“All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute.”).

Amazon Servs., LLC v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue, 442 S.C. 313, 328, 898 S.E.2d 194, 201 (Ct. App. 2024), affirmed (March 18, 2026).

“Accepted professional standards” clearly must incorporate objective standards of reasonableness. An outcome deemed “patently erroneous” (i.e. obviously wrong) is anathema to behavior actually governed by “accepted professional standards.” It is manifest that accepted professional standards mandate that governmental staff give attention to what is patent, obvious and apparent. Accepted professional standards mandate deference to legislative intent that the Court of Appeals concluded was ignored by SCDC. Discretion does not override the requirement that legislative intent must be effectuated, not ignored. As the trial court noted, “SCDC decided to ignore the express legislative intent of the Omnibus Act and adopted an unreasonable and patently erroneous application of the Omnibus Act rather than an application reflecting utilization of the accepted professional standards appropriate to the issue before it. SCDC is not entitled to discretionary immunity.” [R.pp.____: Sum. Judg. Order, p. 24 (emphasis in original)].

An agency interpretation simply cannot be patently erroneous, specious, and unreasonable, but then be in accordance with accepted professional standards at the same time.

SCDC’s reliance on the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals opinion in this case is misplaced. The issue before that Court was whether there was sufficient evidence in the record to meet the heavy burden to find “conscious indifference” in the context of qualified immunity. The holdings in Campbell v. Florian, 972 F.3d 385 (4th Cir. 2020), concerned (i) two individual attorneys, not the SCDC as a state entity; (ii) qualified immunity; and (iii) the federal deliberate-indifference standard — a subjective recklessness inquiry. Once that Court concluded the elements of

conscious indifference were not met, any further comments or commentary unnecessary to its analysis of qualified immunity and conscious indifference were mere dicta. The fact that SCDC chose to ignore legislative intent and applied the Omnibus Act in a manner that this Court deemed “patently erroneous” and the ALC deemed “specious” negates any argument that SCDC applied accepted professional standards.

3. SCDC’s recalculations under the Omnibus Act were ministerial, not discretionary.

Irrespective of how laboriously SCDC staffers supposedly toiled to arrive at a meaning in the Omnibus Act supporting continued incarceration over earlier release of impacted inmates, there were no competing considerations to weigh and no choices to be made. SCDC, through its staff, was bound to know the law and comply with it as written. As stated in Groce v. Horry Cnty., No. 2011-UP-125, 2011 WL 11733611, at *11 (S.C. Ct. App. Mar. 24, 2011):

“Ignorantia juris quod quisque tenetur scire, neminem excusat” denotes “[i]gnorance of the [or a] law, which everyone is bound to know, excuses no man.” Black’s Law Dictionary 747 (6th ed.1990).

As the trial court properly found, SCDC “was under an absolute and imperative duty to recalculate the sentences of impacted inmates in accordance with the Omnibus Act so as to effectuate the early releases and cost savings intended by the Legislature.” [R.pp. ___, Sum. Judg. Order, p. 24]. SCDC was not entitled to discretionary immunity because its recalculations under the Omnibus Act were ministerial, not discretionary.

“[A] duty is ministerial when it is absolute, certain, and imperative, involving merely execution of a specific duty arising from fixed and designated facts. . . .” Faile v. S.C. Dep’t of Juvenile Justice, 350 S.C. 315, 330, 566 S.E.2d 536, 544 (2002) (quoting Jenson v. Anderson Cty. Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 304 S.C. 195, 203, 403 S.E.2d 615, 619 (1991)). Likewise, as stated by the Second Circuit Court of Appeals: “[t]he governmental ‘function involved’ here—prison

officials' implementation of an inmate's sentence—was essentially ministerial.” Francis v. Fiacco, 942 F.3d 126, 144 (2d Cir. 2019). See also Kurtz v. State, 369 S.C. 15, 19, 630 S.E.2d 472, 474 (2006) (holding that the Code Commissioner's classification of offenses is considered a ministerial duty). “[M]ere room for discretion on the part of the governmental entity [is] not sufficient to invoke the discretionary immunity provision.” Foster v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp., 306 S.C. 519, 525, 413 S.E.2d 31, 35 (1992).

SCDC was obligated by statute to do a specific, calculable thing, and it failed to do it. There was no policy choice to make and no professional judgment implicated. SCDC was required to perform calculations, arrive at max-out release dates, and honor those dates by releasing inmates in a timely manner. It failed to do so.

C. SCDC is not immune from liability for the false imprisonment claims pursuant to the exemption to waiver of immunity stated in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(21) because the claims are based on continued custody of inmates past their max-out release dates, not a decision by SCDC to terminate the custodial relationship.

The TCA exemption stated in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(21) does not apply to SCDC's conduct in this case. This exemption provides the state with immunity for “the decision to or implementation of release, discharge, parole, or furlough of any persons in the custody of any governmental entity, including but not limited to a prisoner, inmate, juvenile, patient, or client or the escape of these persons.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(21). The clear meaning and intent of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(21) is to exempt the state from liability for torts arising post-release based upon claims that a release, parole, discharge, or furlough was improper.

In this case, SCDC unlawfully maintained its custodial relationship with the Plaintiff class members rather than terminating that relationship as required by the Omnibus Act. The

foundation of each Plaintiff class member's false imprisonment claim derives from each day of detention before the tardy release date.

As the South Carolina Supreme Court noted in Faile v. S.C. Dep't of Juvenile Justice regarding S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(21):

[O]n its face, the exemption appears to apply to a narrower set of circumstances than those presented in this case. The language of the exemption indicates the custodial entity must make a conscious, if not formal, decision to terminate the relationship before this immunity is triggered.

350 S.C. at 333, 566 S.E.2d at 545 (emphasis added).

The plain language of subsection (21) contemplates the governmental entity having some decision-making power over the release of the inmates which SCDC did not—the dates on which inmates were required to be released were mandated by the Omnibus Act, which SCDC simply failed to follow.

SCDC cites no authority in support of its argument. Instead, it asks this Court for a “liberal construction” of subsection (21), that, in essence, re-writes it. Its argument concerning subsection (21) has no merit, liberal construction or not. Each Plaintiff class member's claim for false imprisonment arose on the first day of unlawful detention past his or her lawful max-out release date, long before the Bolin decision, long before the March 21, 2016 mass release date, and long before the June 2016 mass release date. Unlawful detention is not “release.”

The Supreme Court's construction of § 15-78-60(21) in Faile is a coherent and logical application of this TCA exemption which preserves both the immunity the Legislature granted and the liability the state retained. SCDC's conduct falls entirely outside the exemption's reach. Accordingly, the TCA exemption stated in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(21) does not apply.

D. Application of the gross negligence standard of the custodial immunity exception to the waiver of immunity stated in SC Code Ann. § 15-78-60(25) is not properly before this Court because it was addressed by the trial court solely with regard to the denial of SCDC's Motion for Summary Judgment and those findings and conclusions are not appealable.

SCDC argues the lack of applicability of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(25) even though it was only raised in the portion of the trial court's Order denying SCDC's motion for summary judgment on negligence/gross negligence. The trial court did not address § 15-78-60(25) at all in granting the Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment as to false imprisonment. It did not need to. As the trial court noted, SCDC only asserted immunity pursuant to S.C. Tort Claims Act § 15-78-60(3), (4), (5) and (21) in opposing Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment. [R.p. ___, Sum. Judg. Order, p. 19, fn. 3; see R.p. ___, SCDC Memo. Opp. Mot. for S.J., p. 10, fn. 2 (SCDC stating "SCDC has not raised those defenses in its Motion for Summary Judgment" and noting that other affirmative defenses based on TCA provisions were "not now argued by SCDC.")].¹²

SCDC's convoluted argument seems to be that because the trial court considered § 15-78-60(25) in denying SCDC's motion for summary judgment as to negligence/gross negligence, the court was required to consider and apply § 15-78-60(25) to its analysis of the Plaintiff class members' motion for summary judgment on false imprisonment. SCDC makes this argument even though neither party raised subsection (25) in briefing or arguments on the false imprisonment claims and the court concluded that the TCA exemptions SCDC did rely on in opposing the motion were not applicable.

¹² See also App. Br., p. 28: "As an initial matter, SCDC did not plead or rely upon the immunity set forth in §15-78-60(25)."

The denial of summary judgment is not appealable. See App. Br., p. 45 (citing Ballenger v. Bowen, 313 S.C. 476, 477-78, 443 S.E.2d 379, 380 (1994)). The South Carolina Supreme Court stated unequivocally in Ballenger:

[T]he denial of summary judgment does not finally determine anything about the merits of the case and does not have the effect of striking any defense since that defense may be raised again later in the proceedings. Therefore, an order denying a motion for summary judgment is not appealable.

Ballenger, 313 S.C. at 477–78, 443 S.E.2d at 380 (emphasis in original).

The trial court’s reasoning in denying SCDC’s motion for summary judgment is not properly before the Court and has no impact on the merits of its order granting summary judgment in favor of Plaintiffs as to false imprisonment. SCDC did not oppose Plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment based on § 15-78-60(25) and the trial court did not consider § 15-78-60(25) in granting the motion. There is no appropriate ground on appeal to be stated by SCDC with respect to § 15-78-60(25). Since the trial court made no findings or conclusions with regard to § 15-78-60(25) in the final, appealable portion of its order regarding false imprisonment, SCDC’s arguments in this regard should be wholly disregarded and left to the trial court on remand.

II. SCDC unlawfully restrained all of the Plaintiff class members, thereby subjecting them false imprisonment.

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